ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS 

This appeal asks whether the trial court committed reversible error: 

(1) By failing to grant the defendant's motion to suppress his statements after he 

requested an attorney. 

(2) By denying the defendant's motion for an "Oskalumi" dismissal or cautionary 

instruction regarding the loss of DNA evidence by the State andlor the State Medical 

Examiner's Office, as well as denial of the defendant's right to test the remaining 

forensic evidence. 

(3) By allowing impermissible 404b evidence. 

(4) By denying the defendant's motion for a bifurcated trial. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Procedural History: 

The defendant was indicted on 1 count of First Degree Murder by the February 

2015 Grand Jury in Mercer County, West Virginia [Appendix One, Pg. 6] 

On April 2, 2015 a hearing was held on defendant's Motion to Suppress his 

statements. The matter was continued to allow the court time to review the CD's of the 

defendant's statements taken. [Appendix One, Pg. 7] 

On April 21, 2015 the State filed a Notice of Intent to Introduce Intrinsic 

Evidence andlor 404(b) Evidence. A hearing was held on May 4, 2015 and the court 

continued the matter and directed counsel for the defendant to file a brief 

regarding the 404(b) evidence issue no later than June 5,2015, with the State responding 

no later than June 19,2015. [Appendix One, Pg. 153] 
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On June 4,2015 counsel for the defendant filed a brief regarding the 404(b) 

evidence issue and the State responded on June 17,2015. [Appendix One, Pg. 191] 

On June 24, 2015 counsel for the defendant filed a Motion to Suppress the 

defendant's October 3 statement, including the drive up to the defendant's property, as 

the defendant requested an attorney at the beginning ofthe third statement. [Appendix 

One, Pg. 197] 

On July 14, 2015 a hearing was held at which time the court granted the 

defendant's motion for an Oskalumi hearing. Counsel for the defendant requested the 

court to reopen the suppression hearing to allow the defendant to testify and the court 

directed that matter be addressed at the Osakalumi hearing, which was scheduled for July 

29,2015. [Appendix One, Pg. 206] 

On July 17,2015 the State filed the State's Objection to Defendant's Motion to 

Suppress. [Appendix One, Pg. 220] 

On July 30, 2015 counsel for the defendant filed a Brief in Support of 

Defendant's Motion for "Oskalumi" Hearing. [Appendix One, Pg. 227 

On July 31, 2015 counsel for the defendant filed a Response Brief to State's 

Objection to Defendant's Motion to Suppress. [Appendix One, Pg. 231] 

On August 3, 2015 the State filed an Objection to Defendant's Request for an 

Oskalumi Hearing. [Appendix One, Pg. 237] 

On August 4, 2015 a hearing was held regarding defendant's motion to suppress, 

motion on Osakalumi issues and 404(b) evidence. [Appendix One, Pg. 241] 
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On August 6, 2015 the court entered an Order Denying Defendant's Motion to 

Suppress and Motion to Dismiss or For Cautionary Instruction Pursuant to Oskalumi and 

Granting State's Motion to Introduce 404(b) Evidence or Intrinsic Evidence. [Appendix 

One, Pg. 344] 

On August 7, 2015 the State filed a Motion in Limine to prohibit the defendant 

from claiming Alex Penn killed the victim. [Appendix One, Pg. 402] 

On August 11,2015 a pre-trial hearing was held. At said hearing the defendant 

renewed his motions to perfoml testing of other items prepared by the medical 

examiner's office during the autopsy. Counsel for the defendant further requested a 

continuance of the trial, which was set for August 25-26,2015. The court denied the 

defendant's motion to continue and granted the State's motion in limine to prohibit the 

defendant from claiming Alex Penn killed the victim but stated it may allow other 

evidence presented by defense if sufficient notice was provided to the State. The court 

further ordered the defendant to file a motion to exclude photos by August 13 and the 

State to file a response by August 18,2015. [Appendix One, Pg. 406] 

On August 20, 2015 a hearing was held at which time counsel for the defendant 

made a motion to bifurcate the issue of culpability and the issue ofmercy. The court 

denied the defendant's motion and ordered a unitary trial. [Appendix One, Pg. 441] 

On August 21, 2015 counsel for the defendant filed a Motion to Reconsider the 

Court's Ruling ofMandating a Unitary Trial. [Appendix One, Pg. 479] 

The defendant was tried before a jury on August 25-26, 2015 and was found 
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guilty of "Murder in the First Degree". Thereupon counsel for the defendant moved the 

court to set aside the verdict and grant the defendant a new trial. The court took the 

defendant's motion under advisement and scheduled a status hearing for August 27, 

2015. [Appendix One, Pg. 486] 

On August 27, 2015 a status hearing was held, at which time the court scheduled 

a hearing on defendant's motions and/or disposition for October 9,2015. [Appendix 

One, Pg. 867] 

On October 8, 2015 counsel for the defendant filed a motion to set aside the 

verdict and grant the defendant a new trial. [Appendix One, Pg. 864] 

On October 9, 2015 a hearing was held on defendant's motions and the court 

denied the defendant's motion to dismiss, and motion for a new trial and the defendant's 

conviction was affinned. The defendant was sentenced to the state penitentiary for life 

without the possibility of parole. [Appendix One, Pg. 875] 

Statement of the Facts: 

This case first started as a missing person case [Appendix One, Pg. 10]. There 

were two primary suspects, the defendant and a paramour, Alex Penn. The defendant 

first reported his wife missing on September 25,2014 [Appendix One, Pg. 10]. The WV 

State Police asked him to come up for an interview on September 30, 2014 [Appendix 

One, Pg. 12]. He was asked again to come to the station on October 2, 2014 for a second 

interview [Appendix One, Pg. 13]. After the second interview the whereabouts of the 

victim was still unknown. Prior to the third interview the police had some credit card 
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receipts, cell phone pings, video from a convenient store and fast food restaurant that they 

wanted to question the defendant about [Appendix One, Pg. 48]. On October 3, 3014 

the State Police asked if they could come pick him up and bring him to the station for a 

third interview, which he agreed. [Appendix One, Pgs. 15 & 38] He was not handcuffed 

[Appendix One, Pg. 51] or told he was under arrest but his Miranda Rights were read to 

him at that time. [Appendix One, Pg. 905] 

The defendant requested a lawyer [Appendix One, Pgs 1004-1005; also 

Appendix Two - DVD - State's Exhibit 2A] but the trooper kept reading the Miranda 

form until he agreed to speak with them with no lawyer. During the 3 hour 15 minute 

interview the defendant confessed to shooting his wife with a shotgun on the family farm 

property and burying her Appendix One, Pg. 18-19]. He indicated he could not take the 

infidelity anymore. He was taken into custody at that point and he agreed to take them to 

the location (52 minutes later). While being transported the conversation with him was 

being recorded and no Miranda rights were given [Appendix One, Pgs. 92, 116]. 

It is uncontroverted that the State Pathology Lab or the State Police lost or 

misplaced one Petri dish with fingernail clippings [Appendix One, Pgs. 391-392]. 

The Circuit Court denied the defendant's Osakalumi motion for dismissal or 

cautionary instruction on the misplaced or lost clippings [Appendix One, Pgs. 391-392]. 

The Circuit Court also denied defendant's motion to suppress his 

statements based on failure to cease questioning after he requested an attorney and 
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evidence derived from those statements [Appendix One, Pg. 369]. He was tried and 

convicted on his confession and derivative evidence alone. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The defendant argues that: 

1. He was in a custodial interrogation environment: He unequivocally requested 

an attorney and the state police failed to cease questioning. 

2. That misplaced or lost fingernail clippings warranted a dismissal, cautionary 

instruction and/or warranted further testing of the samples. 

3. That 404(b) evidence was erroneously admitted. 

4. That he should have been granted a bifurcated trial. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner contends that oral argument in this case is appropriate pursuant to Rule 

18 and Oral Argwnent Rule 19 as the primary issue is the suppression of a confession of 

murder. Legal conclusions with regard to suppression determinations are reviewed de 

novo. It is critical to note that the petitioner was found guilty of first degree murder 

without a recommendation ofmercy. 

ARGUMENT 

ISSUE (1) IN DISPUTE: 

Whether it was proper for the court to deny the defendant's motion to exclude any 

and all inculpatory statements made by the defendant and subsequent inculpatory 

evidence (fruits of the Poisonous Tree). 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW & LEGAL AUTHORITY: 


"On appeal, legal conclusions made with regard to suppression 

determinations are reviewed de novo. Factual determinations upon which 

these legal conclusions are based are reviewed under the clearly erroneous 

standard. In addition, factual findings based, at least in part, on 

determinations of witness credibility are accorded great deference. Syl. 

Pt. 3, State v. Stuart, 192 W.Va. 428, 452 S.E. 2d 886 (1994)." State v. 

Bevel, 745 S.E.2d 237 (WV 2013). 


"In reviewing challenges to findings and rulings made by a circuit court, 

we apply a two-pronged deferential standard of review. We review the 
rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its conclusions as to 
the existence of reversible error under an abuse of discretion standard, and 
we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly 
erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a de novo review. Syl 
pt. 3, State v. Vance, 525 S.E. 2d 484 (2000)." State v. Blackburn, 758 
S.E.2d 566 (WV 2014). 

FAILURE TO CEASE QUESTIONING 

This case started as a missing person report regarding Lynette Farley (defendant's 

wife) on or about September 25,2015. 

On September 30, 2014 the defendant was asked to come to the state police 

station for an interview and he voluntarily drove himself to the Beckley detachment. His 

Miranda Rights were never given, orally or in writing [Appendix One, Pgs. 35-37]. 

On October 2,2014 the defendant was asked to come to the police station for a 

second interview and he voluntarily drove himself to the Beckley Detachment. His 

Miranda Rights were never given, orally or in writing [Appendix One, Pgs. 39-41]. 

On October 3,2014, Trooper Milam called the defendant and asked to come to his 

residence. When he and Sgt. Richards arrived at his residence they asked him if he would 

come back to the station for a third interview and told him to save him gas money they 
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would give him a ride and he agreed to ride with them [Appendix One, Pgs. 15 & 38]. 

The officers testified that Mr. Farley was not under arrest at that time and if he had said 

he didn't want to be interviewed they would have taken him back home [Appendix One, 

Pg. 54]. He was not handcuffed. [Appendix One, Pg. 51]. At the time of this, the 3rd 

interview (the confession), Mrs. Farley was not known to be dead or alive. Also there is 

some inference there was a shotgun found prior to the confession, which is inaccurate. 

The shotgun was not found under any search warrant. The shotgun's location was 

disclosed by the defendant after he had confessed. [Trooper P. A. Shrewsbury 

testimony, Appendix One, Pgs. 662-663]. 

Trooper Milam testified when they arrived at the station they began to go through 

his Miranda Rights on a form [Appendix One, Pg. 905]. The following is the actual 

dialog of the interview where Mr. Farley clearly and unequivocally requested an attorney. 

OFF 	 Before we speak, or before we ask you any questions you must 
understand your rights, do you understand that? You have the 
right to remain silent, do you understand that? 

JF Yeah 
OFF Just like CSI 
JF Yeah I watch that inaudible 
OFF Anything you say can be used against you In court, do you 

understand? 
JF Yeah 
OFF 	 You have the right to talk to a lawyer for advice before we speak 

or before we ask you any questions and to have him or her with 
you during questioning: do you understand that? 

JF 	 Yeah. But I can't afford one. If I could I'd already had one. 
OFF 	 Today is Friday, ain't it? 
OFF If you are-if you are under arrest and cannot afford a lawyer the 

court will appoint one for you before questioning at your request, 
do you understand that? 

JF Yeah can I get one just to be safe? You all questioning me to 
death. You all don't believe how bad-
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OFF You gave us some information today. You know, I mean-
JF It just happened to dawn on me, man. 
OFF Well that's good information, that ain't no doubt about it. 
OFF If you decide to answer questions now without a lawyer present 

you will have-you will still have the right to stop answering 
questions at any time. You also have the right to stop answering at 
anytime wltil you've talked to a lawyer: do you understand that? 

JF Yeah. 
OFF Alright. Initial if you understand. This here is the waiver of your 

rights. I'm going to read it to you. If you agree with this statement 
and you understand this statement I'm going to ask you that you 
sign below. Okay? 

JF Okay 
OFF I had this statement of my rights read to me and I understand them. 

I do not want a lawyer at this time. I understand and know what I 
am doing. No promises or threats have been made to me and no 
pressure or coercion of any kind has been used against me in 
connection with this interview. I agree to be interviewed, answer 
questions, and make a statement, do you understand? 

JF Yeah 
OFF Do you agree with this statement? 
JF Yeah. Where do you want me to sign at? 
Off I ask that you sign here." [Appendix One, Pgs. 1004-1005; also 

Appendix Two - DVD - States Exhibit 2A] 

Upon Mr. Farley's request for an attorney, the officers did not cease questioning 

him or honor his request for a court appointed attorney. Mr. Farley did not initiate any 

further exchange or communication. The police initiated further exchange with Mr. 

Farley. Whereupon, Mr. Farley made oral statements to his detriment, that he killed his 

wife and buried her. 

Mr. Farley was under arrest at that time and 52 minutes later he was transported to 

his property. During transport no Miranda Form or rights were administered prior to him 

being questioned in the vehicle in route to the property, whereupon he gave more 
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inculpatory information, a 4th statement, which was recorded on audio. He identified the 

location of the body on his farm property in Mercer County, West Virginia. 

To repeat, Mr. Farley sought to exclude all statements made by him while in a 

custodial interrogation environment at the police station for failure to honor his request 

for a lawyer and while under arrest in the police vehicle [52 minutes later] for failure to 

re-Mirandize him prior to continued questioning. 

CASE LAW: 

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has adopted an objective 

circumstances test for determining whether an individual is in custody for purposes of 

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). 

"[T]he question whether a person is in custody for purposes of Miranda 
requirements is answered by the objective circumstances of the 
interrogation. It does not depend on the subjective view of either the 
person interrogated or the officers who conduct the investigation." State 
v. Honaker, 193 W. Va. 51, 60-61, 454 S.E.2d 96, 105-06 (1994). "A trial 
court's determination of whether a custodial interrogation environment 
exits for purposes of giving Miranda warnings to a suspect is based upon 
whether a reasonable person in the suspect's position would have 
considered his or her freedom of action curtailed to a degree associated 
with a formal arrest." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Middleton, 220 W. Va. 89, 640 
S.E.2d 152 (2006), overruled on other grounds by State v. Eilola, 226 W. 
Va. 698, 704 S.E.2d 698 (2010). 

The factors to be considered by the trial court in making a determination 
of whether a custodial interrogation environment exists, while not all
inclusive include: (1) the location and length of questioning; (2) the nature 
of the questioning as it related to the suspected offense; (3) then number of 
police officers present; (4) the use or absence of force or physical restraint 
by the police officers; (5) the suspect's verbal and nonverbal responses to 
the police officers; and (6) the length of time between the questioning and 
formal arrest." Middleton, supra. 
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While "a statement [] that the interviewee is free to leave, is not 'talismanic' or 

sufficient in and of itself to show a lack ofcustody [ ... ] it is highly probative of whether, 

in the totality of the circumstances, a reasonable person would have reason to believe he 

was 'in custody." United States v. Hargrove, 625 F.3d 170, 180 (4th Cir. 2010), cert. 

denied, 132 S. Ct. 292 (2011). 

If it is determined that the defendant is in a custodial interrogation environment, 

then the principles of Miranda are applicable. As set out in State v. Bevel: 

"The purpose of the Fifth Amendment right to counsel is to protect a 
defendant's right against self-incrimination. The right 'is triggered when a 
defendant is taken into custody by law enforcement officials who desire to 
interrogate him. State v. Williams, 226 W.Va. 626, 629, 704 S.E.2d 418, 
421 (2010) (quoting State v. Hickman, 175 W.Va. 709, 716, 338 S.E.2d 
188, 195 (1985). A defendant may waive his right to counsel and proceed 
with the interrogation. If he chooses to invoke his Fifth Amendment right 
to counsel, all interrogation must cease unless the defendant initiates 
further communication with the police. Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U. S. 
477, 484-85, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981) ("[A]n accused ... , 
having expressed his desire to deal with the police only through counsel, is 
not subject to further interrogation by the authorities until counsel has 
been made available to him, unless the accused himself initiates further 
communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police." ("The 
Edwards rule"). The Fifth Amendment right to counsel attaches before the 
adversarial judicial proceedings are brought against a defendant upon 
invocation of the right by the defendant." State v. Bevel, 231 W.Va. 346, 
352, 745 S.E.2d 237,243 (2013). 

The request for counsel must be clear and unequivocal. State v. Bradshaw, 193 

W.Va. 519, 528,457 S.E.2d 456,565 (1995). 

A defendant's subsequent answers to impermissible continued questioning by the 

police "cannot be considered to render ambiguous [ an] initial unambiguous invocation of 

the right to counsel ... for the simple reason they were initiated by the police rather than 
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volunteered by the defendant." State v Bowyer, 181 W.Va. at 31, 380 S.E.2d at 198 

(1989)." The following is a portion of cross examination of Officer Milam: 

Q. It looks like Mr. Farley's requesting a lawyer. He says, "Yeah. Can I 

get one just to be safe? You all questioning me to death." 

At that point do you feel like you should have stopped the interview at that 

time? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. And why would that be? 

A. We continued to advise him of his rights. We - the Miranda Rights 

form, he either - the rights, they're listed down the page, and just to tell 

him to make sure he understands what his rights are, and then ask him at 

the end if he waiver of his rights - in which I read that statement to him

he agreed - he said he agreed with it, and then signed the form. 

Q. Before he got down to that part, though, there's those three sentences

three statements. Again, I going, "RRR: You gave me some information 

today," and then the next one, "It just happened to dawn on me, man," and 

then, "Well, that's good information, there ain't no doubt about it." 


And then - those just don't seem responsive. To right after a man asks for 
a lawyer, it just doesn't seem like those are responsive at all to a fellow 
that's asking for a lawyer. Was there any attempt just to divert his 
attention away from that question, or --- with that type of three statements 
or - how do you interrupt that before you go back on the, you know, issue 
of - instead of addressing the issue of getting him a lawyer it says," If you 
decide to answer the questions now without a lawyer 

A. I'm not sure, sir." [Appendix One, Pgs. 61-63, 94-97] 

ARGUMENT: 

Per State v. Middleton, supra, a reasonable person in the suspect's position would 

have considered their freedom of action curtailed to a degree associated with a formal 

arrest. 

A reasonable person would be anxious and suspicious if asked to come to the 
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police station to give a recorded statement about the whereabouts of their spouse. That

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