IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


NO. 15-1068 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Plaintiff Below, Respondent, 

VS. 

JOHNNIE FARLEY, 

Defendant Below, Petitioner. 

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF 

COMES NOW, Respondent, State of West Virginia, by counsel, David A. Stackpole, 

Assistant Attorney General and responds to Petitioner's Brief. This Court should affirm 

Petitioner's conviction and sentence. 

I.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 


Petitioner was not in custody at the time of his statements. He was expressly told that he 

was not under arrest and that he was free to leave at any time. When Petitioner was Mirandized 

prior to his third statement, Petitioner was not in custody and did not have a right to have counsel 
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appointed. Additionally, Petitioner clearly stated that he could not afford counsel. While he 

wished he could get counsel appointed, he had no right to appointed counsel. As such, his 

statement was neither clear nor unequivocal. Furthermore, Petitioner signed the Miranda form 

and agreed to be interviewed. During the interview, Petitioner confessed and offered to lead 

police to the burial site. The interview continued in the police cruiser on the way to the burial 

site. Petitioner did not have to be re-Mirandized as no delay occurred. 

While the State had the victim's right hand fingernail scrapings, had a duty to preserve 

them, and breached that duty, it was clear that there was no bad faith on the part of the State. 

Additionally, the evidence was not exculpatory as Petitioner claims when he confessed to the 

killing and led police to where the body was buried. Moreover, there were left hand fingernail 

scrapings still available along with toe nails, hair, gunshot residue, blood samples, and sexual 

assault evidence. As such, the Circuit Court properly held that dismissal was not a warranted 

consequence and neither was an instruction regarding the lost evidence. To the extent that 

Petitioner claims that he was denied forensic testing of the samples that existed, Petitioner admits 

that he waited until the eve of Trial before he requested any testing. 

The State gave notice of 404(b) evidence and the Circuit Court held a McGinnis Hearing, 

where the Circuit Court found that the evidence was relevant and more probative than 

prejudicial. However, the Circuit Court properly found that the evidence was not extrinsic 

evidence, but was part of the res gestae. The evidence related to Petitioner's thinking about 

killing the victim and his threats to kill the victim were intrinsic evidence showing 

premeditation. The evidence about Petitioner's actions to slash the victim's tires in order to keep 

her from leaving him.. and backing into her vehicle because she was spending money on othel. 

guys was intrinsic evidence showing motive. 
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Circuit Courts have enormous discretion regarding bifurcation because bifurcation 

involves mostly Trial management. Petitioner has failed to show compelling prejudice or 

evidence that he did not receive a fair Trial. Moreover, Petitioner has not cited any law showing 

that bifurcation was required in this case. As such, this Court should affirm Petitioner's 

conviction and sentence. 

III. 


STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 


All the issues raised by Petitioner have been authoritatively decided. The facts and legal ' 

arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the Appendix. The decisional process 

would not be aided by oral argument. However, if this Court wishes to set this matter for oral 

argument based upon the fact that Petitioner received a sentence of life without mercy, then rule 

19 oral argument would be proper. This matter is appropriate for a Memorandum Decision. 

IV. 

ARGUMENT 

Petitioner asserts four (4) assignments of error: [1] error to deny the Motion to Suppress; 

[2] error to deny Motion for Osakalumi dismissal or instruction; [3] error to permit 404(b) 

evidence; and [4] error to deny Motion for Bifurcation. Pet'r's Br. at 1. All of Petitioner's 

claims fail. 

A. 	 Petitioner Was Not In Custody, Petitioner Did Not Have The Right To Appointed 
Counsel At The Time Of The Interview, And There Was No Requirement To Re~ 
Mirandize Petitioner For The Drive To The Location Of The Body. 

The standard of review for factual findings on a Motion to Suppress is clear error: 

"When reviewing a ruling on a motion to suppress, an appellate court should 
construe all facts in the light most favorable to the State, as it was the prevailing 
party below. Because of the highly fact-specific nature of a motion to suppress, 
particular deference is given to the findings of the circuit court because it had the 
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opportunity to observe the witnesses and to hear testimony on the issues. 
Therefore, the circuit court's factual findings are reviewed for clear error." 

Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Davis, 232 W. Va. 398, 752 S.E.2d 429, 434 (2013) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, State 

v. Lacy, 196 W. Va. 104,468 S.E.2d 719 (1996)). 

The Circuit Court properly denied Petitioner's Motion to Suppress. First, the Circuit 

Court was correct in denying Petitioner's Motion to Suppress because Petitioner was not in 

custody at the time of his statements. '"A trial court's determination of whether a custodial 

interrogation environment exists for purposes of giving Miranda warnings to a suspect is based 

upon whether a reasonable person in the suspect's position would have considered his or her 

freedom of action curtailed to a degree associated with a formal arrest.'" Syl. Pt. 8, Davis, 232 

W. Va. at 398, 752 S.E.2d at 434 (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Middleton, 220 W. Va. 89, 640 

S.E.2d 152 (2006), overruled on other grounds by State v. Eilola, 226 W. Va. 698, 704 S.E.2d 

698 (2010)). This Court has articulated the factors for determining whether a reasonable person 

would have considered his or her freedom of action to be curtailed: 

"'The factors to be considered by the trial court in making a determination of 
whether a custodial interrogation environment exists, while not all-inclusive, 
include: the location and length of questioning; the nature of the questioning as it 
relates to the suspected offense; the number of police officers present; the use or 
absence of force or physical restraint by the police officers; the suspect's verbal 
and nonverbal responses to the police officers; and the length of time between the 
questioning and formal arrest. '" 

Syl. Pt. 9, Davis, 232 W. Va. at 398, 752 S.E.2d at 434 (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, Middleton, 220 W. 

Va. at 89,640 S.E.2d at 152.) 

Petitioner argues that the fact that he was asked to give a recorded statement about his 

missing wife would make a reasonable person "anxious and suspicious." Pet'r's Br. at 12-3. To 

the contrary, a person who reported that his wife was missing and who was not asked to come to 

the station and give a statement would be suspicious that the police were not doing their job. 
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Petitioner argues that the fact that the police gave him a ride to the police station so that 

he would not have to drive demonstrates that he was in custody. Pet'r's Br. at 13. Petitioner was 

not handcuffed and was not placed under arrest. (App. at 346.) To the contrary, he was told that 

he was "not under arrest and [was] free to leave at any time." (Id. at 1004.) As such, it was not 

reasonable for Petitioner to have believed that his freedom of action was curtailed. 

Petitioner also argues that the fact that Petitioner was Mirandized at the third interview 

and not at the first two (2) interviews demonstrates that he was in custody. Pet'r's Br. at 13-4. 

However, that is not the standard. The standard is whether a reasonable person would have 

considered his or her freedom of action to be curtailed. Syl. Pt. 8, Davis, 232 W. Va. at 398, 752 

S.E.2d at 434. It is not reasonable for Petitioner to have believed that his freedom was curtailed 

just because he was informed of his rights. This is especially true because Petitioner was 

expressly informed that he was not under arrest and that he was "free to leave at any time." 

(App. at 1004.) 

Petitioner further argues that there were two (2) officers doing the interview and one (1) 

officer "walking around observing." Pet'r's Br. at 13. Petitioner is incorrect. Officer Amos was 

not "walking arolmd observing." Rather, Officer Amos testified that he "was present for most all 

statements, but not in the room, most likely, you would say." (App. at 123.) Petitioner's counsel 

asked how frequently Officer Amos was "walking around" during the interviews. (Id.) Initially, 

Officer Amos answered "[ e ] very statement" because he believed he was being asked if he was 

present in the office, but later clarified that he was not in the room, but in the office and that he 

"never took an official statement from Mr. Farley." (Id. at 123-24.) However, Petitioner is 

correct that there were two (2) officers doing the third interview. (/d. at 1003.) A reasonable 

person would not believe that his freedom was curtailed just because there were two (2) officers 

• 
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in the room at the time of the interview. To the contrary, a reasonable person would believe that 

the police were diligently working to solve the missing wife complaint. 

Petitioner argues that a reasonable person would have felt that the interview was 

custodial based on the length of the interview. Pet'r's Br. at 13. Petitioner claims that the third 

interview lasted "3 hours 15 minutes." Id. Petitioner is incorrect. The third interview lasted 

from 11 :54 a.m. until 1 :09 p.m. (App. at 1003-052.) That is a total of one (1) hour and fifteen 

(15) minutes; a full two (2) hours less than Petitioner claims. A reasonable person would not 

believe that an interview, which lasted only one (1) hour and fifteen (15) minutes, amounted to 

the curtailing of his freedom, when he had reported that his wife was missing. To the extent that 

Petitioner tries to add the time from the first two (2) interviews and the drive time to the burial 

site to make a time of "5 hours 22 minutes over a three day period," such is incorrect. First, 

because the third interview lasted two (2) hours less than Petitioner claims, the conclusion of "5 

hours and 22 minutes" is two (2) hours longer than what occurred. Second, it was a four (4) day 

period and not a three (3) day period as the first interview occurred on September 30, 2014 and 

the third interview took place on October 3, 2014. Even ifthe total time of interviews amounted 

to three (3) hours and twenty-two (22) minutes over a four (4) day period, a reasonable person 

would not conclude that his freedom was curtailed because a reasonable person would 

understand that a missing wife report would require follow-up interviews while she continues to 

be missing. 

Applying the factors, it is clear that a reasonable person would not believe that his 

freedom was curtailed when being interviewed regarding his missing wife. The location was the 

police station, where you would expect to be interviewed if your wife was missing. The length 

of questioning for the third interview was reasonable: one (1) hour and fifteen (15) minutes. The 
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nature of the questioning related to the time that Petitioner last saw his wife and the days leading 

up to her disappearance. (App. at 1003-052.) Petitioner was never physically restrained and the 

police never used force upon Petitioner. Moreover, Petitioner was told that he was not under 

arrest and was free to leave at any time. (Jd.) As such, none of the factors would lead a 

reasonable person to believe that his freedom was curtailed when he was being interviewed 

following a report that his wife was missing. 

Second, the Circuit Court was correct in denying Petitioner's Motion to Suppress because 

Petitioner did not have the right to appointed counsel at the time of the interview. "The Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel attaches at the time judicial proceedings have been initiated against 

a defendant whether by way of formal charges, preliminary hearing, indictment, information, or 

arraignment." Sy1. Pt. 1, State v. Bowyer, 181 W. Va. 26, 27, 380 S.E.2d 193, 194 (1989). 

"Once an accused asks for counsel during custodial interrogation, he is not subject to further 

interrogation by the authorities until counsel has been made available to him, unless the accused 

himself initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police." Syl. Pt. 2, 

Bowyer, 181 W. Va. at 27,380 S.E.2d at 194. "The initial inquiry must be whether the statement 

is a clear and unequivocal request to have counsel present." State v. Bradshaw, 193 W. Va. 519, 

528,457 S.E.2d 456, 465 (1995). 

Here, Petitioner was not in custody and was not under arrest and therefore, did not have a 

right to have counsel appointed. (App. at 1004.) The Sixth Amendment right to counsel did not 

attach because there was no charge against Petitioner at the time of the interview. While 

Petitioner had a right to obtain his own counsel and have present during questioning, Petitioner 

was clear and unequivocal that he could not afford counsel. (Jd.) Although Petitioner did ask if 

he could "get one just to be safe," he appeared to be requesting that counsel be appointed to him. 
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(Jd. at 1004-005.) Petitioner's request was not a clear and unequivocal request to have counsel 

present. It was an unclear and equivocal request. It was the equivalent of "I would like counsel, 

but I can't afford counsel." Petitioner was not entitled to appointed counsel at the time because 

he was not under arrest. Nonetheless, Petitioner's entire argument is based on the idea that he 

should have an absolute right to appointed counsel, despite'that fact that he was not charged with 

any crime. Pet'r's Br. at 15-8. Because Petitioner's interview was not custodial, he had no right 

to counsel and the request to have counsel appointed, when his Sixth Amendment right had not 

attached did not mean that the police had to stop questioning Petitioner. 

Additionally, after being told that he was not under arrest, that he was free to leave, that 

he had the right to have counsel during questioning, that if he decided to speak without a lawyer 

present that he could stop answering questions at any time, that he had the right to remain silent, 

and that anything he said could be used against him in court, he went on to sign the Miranda 

form and decided to go ahead with the interview. (App. at 1003-005.) 

Third, the Circuit Court was correct in denying Petitioner's Motion to Suppress because 

there was no requirement to re-Mirandize Petitioner for the drive to the burial site. Petitioner 

argues that the police were required to re-Mirandize Petitioner after his confession and prior to 

the discussion that ensued on the trip to the burial site. Pet'r's Br. at 17. In this case, following 

the initial Miranda rights, Petitioner confessed to police that he shot and killed his wife and that 

he buried her on his property. (Jd. at 1037-039.) During this confession, Petitioner offered to 

take the police to where she was buried. (Jd.) After the confession and offer to take the police to 

the body, the police officer again asked Petitioner if he understood his Miranda rights that had 

been read to him and if he still wanted to take the police to the location of the body and 

Petitioner stated that he understood and that he "needed to get it off [his] conscience." (Jd. at 
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1051-052.) There was no delay. Right after the confession, Petitioner guided the police to the 

location of the body. (Jd. at 70.) 

While Petitioner label's this a "fourth" interview for the purpose of suggesting that this 

was a wholly new and distinct interview, such is deceiving. Petitioner confessed to killing his 

wife during the third interview and agreed to take the police to the burial site. (Jd. at 1003-052.) 

They stopped the recording because they had to travel to the burial site. A new recording was 

started in the police cruiser on the way to the burial site, but it was still a continuation ofthe third 

interview. (Jd. at 1053-079.) This discussion took place in the cruiser right after the confession 

on the way to show the police where the body was located. (Jd. at 70.) Petitioner had been 

Mirandized prior to the third interview and there was no requirement to re-Mirandize for the trip 

to the location of the body. 

Therefore, because Petitioner was not in custody at the time of his statements; because 

Petitioner did not have the right to appointed counsel; and because Petitioner had been 

Mirandized prior to his interview; because Petitioner offered to take police to the burial site; and 

because there was no delay, this Court should affirm Petitioner's conviction and sentence. 

B. 	 The Osakalumi Factors Demonstrate That Neither Dismissal Nor Instructions Were 
A Proper Consequence And Petitioner's Delay Was The Reason For Denying 
Further Testing. 

In State v. Hutzler, 223 W. Va. 461, 677 S.E.2d 655 (2009), this Court articulated the 

standard of review for lost evidence claims. '" [T]his Court reviews the circuit court's final order 

and ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard. '" State v. Hutzler, 223 W. Va. 

461,464,677 S.E.2d 655,658 (2009) (citations omitted). "'We review challenges of findings of 

fact under a clearly erroneous standard; conclusions oflaw are reviewed de novo.'" Id. 
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Petitioner provides no analysis as to why the loss of right fingernail sc~apings would have 

any impact or as to how DNA testing would have made any difference. There is a three (3)

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